
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 

 
GRANT TAYLOR, Individually and on 
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

FLOOR & DECOR HOLDINGS, INC., 
THOMAS V. TAYLOR, JR., TREVOR 
S. LANG, ARES CORPORATE 
OPPORTUNITIES FUND III, L.P., FS 
CAPITAL PARTNERS VI, LLC, FS 
EQUITY PARTNERS VI, L.P., FS 
AFFILIATES VI, L.P. and FREEMAN 
SPOGLI MANAGEMENT CO., L.P., 

Defendants. 
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COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS 
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SUMMARY OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a securities class action on behalf of all persons or entities who 

purchased the common stock of Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. (“Floor & Decor” or 

the “Company”) between May 23, 2018 and August 1, 2018, inclusive (the “Class 

Period”).  The defendants are Floor & Decor, the Company’s President and Chief 

Executive Officer (“CEO”), Thomas V. Taylor, Jr. (“Taylor”), its Chief Financial 

Officer (“CFO”), Trevor S. Lang (“Lang”), and certain of the Company’s controlling 

shareholders.  Plaintiff seeks remedies for violations of §§10(b) and 20(a) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). 

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

2. Floor & Decor describes itself as a high-growth differentiated multi-

channel specialty retailer of hard surface flooring and related accessories, with 

warehouse-format stores across 21 states.  The Company purports to offer the 

industry’s broadest in-stock assortment of tile, wood, laminate and natural stone 

flooring, along with decorative and installation accessories, at everyday low prices, 

which positions it as the one-stop destination for its customers’ entire hard surface 

flooring needs.  One of the Company’s key differentiating factors is its large 

warehouse-format stores, which carry a high inventory of hard surface flooring and 
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tools and accessories in order to offer customers immediate availability on 

everything needed to complete entire flooring or remodeling projects. 

3. The Company conducted its initial public offering (“IPO”) on May 2, 

2017, raising gross proceeds of $213 million.  Floor & Decor stock trades on the 

New York Stock Exchange under Ticker symbol “FND.”  The Company, since its 

IPO, has reported strong sales growth and product demand from its customers.  The 

Company has also aggressively opened new stores in both semi-rural and more 

densely populated geographies.  In addition, the Company has begun to compete 

more directly with larger retailers that sell flooring products, including Lowes, 

Home Depot and Lumber Liquidators.  

4. On November 15, 2017, the Company conducted a secondary offering 

of 6.5 million shares of its common stock at $36.00 per share to be sold by certain 

stockholders of the Company.  The November 15, 2017 secondary offering closed 

on or around November 20, 2017. 

5. On May 3, 2018, the Company issued a press release announcing its 

financial results for the first quarter of fiscal 2018, ended March 29, 2018.  The 

financial results beat the Company’s reported revenue and earnings expectations and 

the Company also increased its financial projections for the remainder of fiscal 

2018: 
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Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. Announces First Quarter 
Fiscal 2018 Financial Results 

* * * 

Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. (“We,” “Our” the “Company,” or “Floor 
& Decor”) announces its financial results for the first quarter of fiscal 
2018, which ended March 29, 2018. 

Tom Taylor, Chief Executive Officer, stated, “We are very 
pleased with our results in the first quarter that once again demonstrate 
the positive response customers have to Floor & Decor’s highly 
differentiated, multi-channel, hard surface flooring and accessories 
business.  Sales were above our expectations, and when combined 
with strong store execution and cost controls, we grew our adjusted 
diluted EPS 100%. 

* * * 

For the Thirteen Weeks Ended March 29, 2018 

• Net sales increased 31.1% to $402.9 million from $307.3 million 
in the first quarter of fiscal 2017.  Comparable store sales 
increased 15.6% . . . . 

* * * 

• Operating income increased 61.0% to $36.5 million from $22.7 
million in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. Operating margin 
increased 170 basis points to 9.1%. 

• Net income increased 186.4% to $31.9 million compared to 
$11.1 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. Diluted EPS was 
$0.30 compared to $0.13 in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. 

6. The Company increased the comparable store sales and earnings per 

share (“EPS”) guidance as follows: 
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 Prior Guidance 
Twelve Months 
Ended 
12/27/2018 

Updated Guidance Twelve 
Months 
Ended 12/27/2018 

Net sales $1,690 - $1,730 $1,705 - $1,735 
Comparable 
store sales 

8.5% to 11.5% 9.5% to 11.5% 

Adjusted 
diluted EPS 

$0.91 - $1.00 $0.93 - $1.01 

 
7. On the same day, May 3, 2018, the Company held a conference call for 

analysts and investors to discuss its first quarter 2018 financial results.  The call was 

hosted by defendants Lang and Taylor.  During the call, defendants discussed current 

sales and business trends and the Company’s basis for the increase in its financial 

guidance for the remainder of 2018: 

[Lang:]  Now turning to our guidance.  As you saw from our 
press release, we’re raising our sales and adjusted EPS guidance for the 
year following a very strong first quarter.  A few points I want to make 
about our outlook.  First, for fiscal 2018, we continue to expect our 
comparable store sales, excluding Houston, to be in the high single 
digits to low double digits and for the Houston benefit to moderate as 
we move throughout the year.  Second, our outlook now assumes a 
modest decline in gross margin for fiscal 2018. 

* * * 

[Analyst:]  And just sort of a general cadence, not only within the 
quarter but relative to last year.  There’s been some modest moderation 
in the underlying growth rate in the market.  So can you talk about was 
that – is that sort of like broadly felt across the categories?  Or is it any 
particular category standout?  You did see some nice ticket 
improvement in this quarter.  Was there any sort of stand out on the 
cadence within the first quarter as well? 
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[Taylor:]  No.  Not, not really.  The trends have been relatively 
consistent, so the businesses that have grown at a faster rate continue 
to be the same businesses as we’ve seen in the previous quarters.  So 
we haven’t seen anything from a category perspective. 

8. On May 3, 2018, following the announcement of the Company’s first 

quarter 2018 financial results, UBS issued a report on Floor & Decor entitled “Quick 

Thoughts on 1Q’18 Results”: 

Quick Thoughts on 1Q’18 Results 

FND reported 1Q adj. EPS of $0.26 vs. the consensus of $0.23 
(UBSe $0.22) FND’s reported comp of 15.6% was above our estimate 
of 15.0% (cons. 15.5%). Notably, post-hurricane demand in Houston 
boosted its comp by 400 bps (vs. 800 bps in 4Q).  Its multi-year stacks 
decelerated a bit. But, FND’s 3-yr & 4-yr stack comp were stable after 
adjusting for the hurricane benefits the past two quarters.  We think this 
demonstrates that core demand trends remained strong during the 
quarter. 

* * * 

The company updated its FY’18 outlook and provided 2Q 
guidance FND expects a 2Q comp of 11-13%, which amounts to a 2-yr 
stack of 27% at its midpoint.  This implies its multi-year stacks will be 
steady with 1Q. Its 2Q EPS guidance range of $0.23-0.25 (cons. est. of 
$0.30) suggests considerable margin degradation of about -170 bps.  
This probably reflects the 4 warehouse openings and some investment 
timing.  For the full-year, FND increased the low end of its comp 
guidance range to 9.5- 11.5% (from 8.5-11.5%), demonstrating more 
confidence in its outlook.  Further, its new EPS guidance range of 
$0.93-$1.01 (from $0.91-$1.00) flows through some of the beat from 
1Q. We think a beat-and-raise story will be well received by the market. 
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9. Despite the Company’s strong first quarter 2018 financial results and 

the increase in the Company’s fiscal 2018 outlook, some market analysts expressed 

disappointment that the sales outlook had not been increased even more. 

10. On May 3, 2018, Floor & Decor’s stock price declined from a close of 

$54.05 per share on May 2, 2018 to $46.56 per share on May 4, 2018. 

11. On May 9, 2018, J.P. Morgan issued a report on Floor & Decor 

discussing its meeting with Company executives, including defendants Taylor and 

Lang.  The report reiterated the strength of Floor & Decor’s business, shot down any 

rumors that the Company had missed internal financial plans during the first quarter 

of 2018, encouraged investors to add to their positions on the current “pullback” in 

the Company’s share price, and set a $59.00 price target for the Company’s shares: 

We hosted FND management yesterday in NYC including CEO 
Tom Taylor, CFO and EVP, Professional Services, Trevor Lang, and 
Manager of IR, Matt McConnell.  Net-net, we continue to see FND as 
a rare growth story and would use the pullback in the stock to add 
to/build positions and are thus reiterating our OW rating ($59 Dec 18 
price target = 29% upside). 

Key points/conclusions from our meetings include: (1) contrary 
to what some investors have heard, FND categorically did not fall 
short of their internal plan in 1Q. 

* * * 

Best in market value prop; no shift in geographical or category 
trends; pricing structure intact. 
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12. On May 23, 2018, the Company filed a Registration Statement and Rule 

424(b) Prospectus with the SEC for a secondary offering of 10 million shares of 

Floor & Decor common stock at $44.77 per share, which became effective on or 

around May 23, 2018.  On May 25, 2018, the Company filed a Prospectus 

Supplement with the SEC for the May 24, 2018 secondary offering (“May 24 

Secondary Offering”).1  The Registration Statement incorporated the Company’s 

historical financial performance and growth prospects and purported to warn 

investors that there were certain risks that, “if” they occurred, “could” cause the 

Company’s financial results to be adversely affected.  In fact, certain of the risks 

were already materializing. 

13. On May 29, 2018, the Company filed a Form 8-K with the SEC 

announcing the closure of the May 24 Secondary Offering.  The Form 8-K attached 

the underwriting agreement between the Company and J.P. Morgan and assured 

investors that as of the effective date (May 23, 2018) and the closing date (May 29, 

2018), the Registration Statement did not contain any untrue statements of material 

fact or omit to state any material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to 

                                           
1 The Registration Statement, Prospectus and Prospectus Supplement are 
referred to herein collectively as the “Registration Statement.” 
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make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading: 

Each of the Registration Statement and any post-effective 
amendment thereto, at the time of its effectiveness, complied and will 
comply in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act 
and the 1933 Act Regulations.  Each preliminary prospectus, the 
Prospectus and any amendment or supplement thereto, at the time each 
was filed with the Commission, complied and will comply in all 
material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 
Act Regulations . . . . 

. . . Neither the Prospectus nor any amendment or supplement 
thereto, as of its issue date, at the time of any filing with the 
Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b), at the Closing Time, included, 
includes or will include an untrue statement of a material fact or 
omitted, omits or will omit to state a material fact necessary in order to 
make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading. 

14. The May 24 Secondary Offering raised more than $400 million for the 

“Selling Stockholders.”  Including the sales in the May 24 Secondary Offering, and 

as the Company’s stock price increased to above $55.00 per share thereafter, 

Company insiders unloaded more than 10.3 million shares of Floor & Decor 

common stock for proceeds of more than $466 million. 

15. Each of the statements in the Registration Statement filed with the SEC 

regarding the current financial condition of the Company, including the purported 

risk warnings associated with the purchase of the Company’s stock, was materially 

false and misleading because the Company knew, but failed to disclose, that prior to 
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the May 24 Secondary Offering, the Company had already begun to experience 

declining sales trends that would ultimately result in the reduction of its fiscal 2018 

sales and adjusted EPS guidance, which had been increased as recently as May 2018.  

The Registration Statement failed to disclose this material information, disclosure of 

which was required by SEC Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229.303 (“Item 303”).  Item 

303 requires disclosure of any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that 

the registrant reasonably expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable 

impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations. 

16. Then, on August 2, 2018, before the market opened, Floor & Decor 

issued a press release announcing its financial results for the second quarter of 2018.  

The second quarter results were in sharp contrast to the assurances made on May 3, 

2018 about the strength of the Company’s business and its continuing growth 

trajectory for the remainder of 2018.   

17. The Company reduced its fiscal 2018 comparable store sales and EPS 

outlook as follows: 

 Prior Outlook Updated Outlook 
 Twelve Months 

Ended 12/27/2018 
Twelve Months 
Ended 12/27/2018 

Net sales $1,705 - $1,735 $1,696 - $1,710 
Comparable store 
sales 

9.5% to 11.5% 9.0% to 10.0% 
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Adjusted diluted 
EPS 

$0.93 - $1.01 $0.93 - $0.96 

 
18. Following the issuance of the August 2, 2018 press release, the 

Company held a conference call for analysts and investors to discuss its 

disappointing financial results.  In addition to reiterating the Company’s second 

quarter 2018 financial results and its sharply reduced financial guidance, the 

Company’s CFO explained the declining sales trends, which purportedly had begun 

in May 2018 after the announcement of the Company’s first quarter 2018 financial 

results and had continued thereafter.  During the call, defendant Lang explained:  

[Lang:]  So this is Trevor, again. So when we gave guidance, our 
April comps were in line with what we gave guidance at that time.  We 
obviously knew what our results were at that point.  So you’re right, the 
back part, after the earnings release, is when our business slowed a 
bit. And it’s been pretty consistent subsequent to that. 

19. As a result of these disclosures and the significant reduction in the 

Company’s fiscal year 2018 sales and EPS outlook, Floor & Decor’s stock price 

declined more than 21%, from a close of $47.71 per share on August 1, 2018 to a 

close of $37.50 per share on August 3, 2018. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

20. Jurisdiction is conferred by §27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §77aa) 

and 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1337.  The claims asserted herein arise under §§10(b) and 
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20(a) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and 78t(a)), and Rule 10b-5 

promulgated thereunder (17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5). 

21. Venue is properly laid in this District pursuant to §27 of the Exchange 

Act and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and (c).  The acts and conduct complained of herein 

occurred in substantial part in this District.  The Company’s shares are traded on the 

New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”).  

22. In connection with the acts and conduct alleged in this complaint, 

defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate 

commerce, including the mail, telephonic communications and the facilities of the 

NYSE. 

PARTIES 

23. Plaintiff Grant Taylor purchased Floor & Decor common stock as 

described in the certification attached hereto as Exhibit A and was damaged thereby. 

24. Defendant Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with 

its principal place of business located in Smyrna, Georgia. 

25. Defendant Thomas V. Taylor, Jr. (“Taylor”) is and was at all relevant 

times the Company’s CEO and has been a member of the Company’s Board of 

Directors since December 2012.  Taylor signed the May 23, 2018 Registration 

Statement. 
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26. Defendant Trevor S. Lang (“Lang”) is and was at all relevant times 

Executive Vice President, CFO and Chief Accounting Officer of the Company.  

Lang signed the May 23, 2018 Registration Statement. 

27. Defendant Ares Opportunities Fund III, L.P. (“Ares”) and its affiliated 

entities were selling stockholders in the May 24 Secondary Offering and are 

controlling shareholders of the Company.  Ares nominated Norman H. Axelrod, 

David B. Kaplan, Peter M. Starrett, Rachel H. Lee and Felicia D. Thornton to be 

directors of the Company.2 

28. Defendant FS Capital Partners VI, LLC, as the general partner of 

defendants FS Equity Partners VI, L.P. and FS Affiliates VI, L.P. (the “FS Funds”), 

including Freeman Spogli Management Co., L.P., were among the selling 

stockholders in the May 24 Secondary Offering and are controlling shareholders of 

the Company.   

29. Defendant Freeman Spogli Management Co., L.P. (“Freeman Spogli”) 

is a private equity firm dedicated exclusively to investing and partnering with 

                                           
2 Each of the directors signed the May 23, 2018 Registration Statement.  In 
addition, many of them held controlling positions in or relevant affiliations with the 
Controlling Defendants (defined below).  Kaplan is a founder and member of the 
Board of Directors of Ares Partners and an affiliate of Ares.  Starrett is a founder of 
Peter Starrett Associates, which provides consulting services to certain Freeman 
Spogli Management Co., L.P. affiliated entities.  Lee was a manager of Ares. 
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management in consumer and distribution companies in the United States.  Freeman 

Spogli nominated John M. Roth3 and Brad J. Brutocao4 to be directors of the 

Company. 

30. Defendants Taylor and Lang are collectively referred to herein as the 

“Individual Defendants.” 

31. Defendants Ares, the FS Funds and Freeman Spogli are collectively 

referred to herein as the “Controlling Defendants.” 

CONTROL PERSONS 

32. As officers and/or directors and controlling persons of a publicly held 

company whose common stock is traded on the NYSE and governed by the 

provisions of the federal securities laws, the defendants had a duty to promptly 

disseminate accurate and truthful information with respect to the Company’s 

financial condition, performance, growth, operations, financial statements, business, 

markets, management, earnings, and present and future business prospects, and to 

                                           
3 Roth signed the May 23, 2018 Registration Statement.  Roth is also a 
managing member of FS Capital Partners VI, LLC and a principal of certain 
Freeman Spogli affiliated entities. 

4 Brutocao signed the May 23, 218 Registration Statement.  Brutocao is also a 
managing member of FS Capital Partners VI, LLC and a principal of certain 
Freeman Spogli affiliated entities. 
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correct any previously issued statements that had become materially misleading or 

untrue, so that the market price of the Company’s common stock would be based 

upon truthful and accurate information.  The Individual Defendants’ 

misrepresentations and omissions during the Class Period violated these specific 

requirements and obligations. 

33. Defendants participated in the drafting, preparation, and/or approval of 

the various public, shareholder and investor reports and other communications 

complained of herein and were aware of, or recklessly disregarded, the 

misstatements contained therein and omissions therefrom and of their materially 

false and misleading nature.  Because of their Board membership and/or executive 

and managerial positions with Floor & Decor, defendants had access to the adverse 

undisclosed information about the Company’s financial condition and performance 

as particularized herein and knew (or recklessly disregarded) that these adverse facts 

rendered the positive representations made by or about Floor & Decor and its 

business or adopted by the Company materially false and misleading. 

34. The Individual Defendants and Controlling Defendants, because of 

their positions of control and authority as officers and/or directors of the Company 

or their share ownership and rights emerging from an Investor Rights Agreement, 

were able to and did control the content of the various SEC filings, press releases 
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and other public statements pertaining to the Company during the Class Period.5  

Defendants were provided with copies of the documents alleged herein to be 

misleading prior to or shortly after their issuance and/or had the ability and/or 

opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to be corrected.  Accordingly, 

                                           
5 The Registration Statement filed in connection with the Company’s IPO on 
April 24, 2017 describes the power of Ares and the FS Funds (and Freeman Spogli) 
and their control over Floor & Decor, including their rights to appoint directors and 
officers to the Company as follows:  

Pursuant to the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement, each 
Sponsor is entitled to nominate (a) five directors for election to our 
board of directors for so long as it holds 40% or more of our outstanding 
common stock, (b) three directors for election to our board of directors 
for so long as it holds 30% or more of our outstanding common stock, 
(c) two directors for election to our board of directors for so long as it 
holds 15% or more of our outstanding common stock and (d) one 
director for election to our board of directors for so long as it holds 5% 
or more of our outstanding common stock.  In particular, Ares has 
nominated Messrs. Axelrod, Kaplan and Starrett and Mses. Lee and 
Thornton for election to our board of directors, and Freeman Spogli has 
nominated Messrs.  Brutocao and Roth for election to our board of 
directors.  Pursuant to the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement, each 
Sponsor will agree to vote in favor of the other Sponsor’s nominees and 
for the election of our then-current chief executive officer to our board 
of directors, and subject to any applicable securities exchange or 
equivalent listing requirements, we will agree to take all necessary and 
desirable actions to support the election of such director nominees, 
including soliciting proxies in favor of such nominees, at each annual 
or special meeting of our stockholders called for the election of 
directors.   
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defendants are responsible for the accuracy of the public reports and releases detailed 

herein and are therefore primarily liable for the representations contained therein. 

35. The Company and the Individual Defendants, by disseminating 

materially false and misleading statements and/or concealing material adverse facts, 

are liable as participants in a fraudulent scheme and course of business that operated 

as a fraud or deceit on purchasers of Floor & Decor common stock.  The scheme: (i) 

deceived the investing public regarding Floor & Decor’s business, operations, 

management and the intrinsic value of Floor & Decor common stock; and (ii) caused 

plaintiff and other members of the Class (as defined herein) to purchase Floor & 

Decor common stock at artificially inflated prices.  

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

36. On May 23, 2018, Floor & Decor announced that it would conduct a 

secondary offering of 10 million shares of its Class A common stock to be sold by 

the “Selling Stockholders,” including defendants Ares, the FS Funds and Freeman 

Spogli: 

Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. Announces Secondary Offering of 
10,000,000 Shares of Common Stock by Selling Stockholders 

. . . Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. (the “Company” or “Floor & 
Decor”) (NYSE:FND) today announced that funds affiliated with Ares 
Management, L.P. and Freeman Spogli Management Co., L.P. 
(collectively, the “Selling Stockholders”) intend to offer for sale in an 
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underwritten secondary offering 10,000,000 shares of common stock of 
the Company.  

* * * 

An automatic shelf registration statement (including a 
prospectus) relating to these securities was filed on May 23, 2018 with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and became 
effective upon such filing.  

37. On May 23, 2018, the Company filed the Registration Statement and 

Prospectus for the May 24 Secondary Offering with the SEC.  The Registration 

Statement discussed the Company’s business and described the common stock 

offering, the selling stockholders and the Company’s value proposition based upon 

its historical financial performance and sales growth.  In addition, the Registration 

Statement purported to warn investors of certain risks, including, for example, 

failure to achieve market success, regulatory or political developments, or general 

market conditions that could impact the Company’s financial results:6  

Some of the key factors that could cause actual results to differ from 
our expectations include the following: 

• an overall decline in the health of the economy, the hard 
surface flooring industry, consumer spending and the housing market; 

                                           
6 The Registration Statement also incorporated by reference the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 28, 2017, its Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 29, 2018, and its May 18, 2018 
Form 8-K. 
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• any disruption in our distribution capabilities resulting 
from our inability to operate our distribution centers going forward; 

• competition from other stores and internet-based 
competition; 

• our failure to execute our business strategy effectively and 
deliver value to our customers; 

* * * 

• our dependence on foreign imports for the products we 
sell; 

* * * 

• our failure to successfully anticipate consumer preferences 
and demand. 

38. On May 24, 2018, the Company announced that it had priced the May 

24 Secondary Offering of common stock at $44.77 per share and referred investors 

to the Company’s Prospectus, which was filed with the SEC and had become 

effective on May 23, 2018.  The Company also stated that the offering was expected 

to close on May 29, 2018. 

39. On May 29, 2018, the Company filed a Form 8-K with the SEC 

announcing the closure of the May 24 Secondary Offering.  The Form 8-K attached 

the underwriting agreement between the Company and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC 

(“J.P. Morgan”).  The Form 8-K and the attached underwriting agreement assured 

investors that, as of the effective date (May 23, 2018) and the closing date (May 29, 
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2018), the Registration Statement did not contain any untrue statements of material 

fact or omit to state any material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to 

make the statements made herein, in light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading: 

Each of the Registration Statement and any post-effective 
amendment thereto, at the time of its effectiveness, complied and will 
comply in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act 
and the 1933 Act Regulations.  Each preliminary prospectus, the 
Prospectus and any amendment or supplement thereto, at the time each 
was filed with the Commission, complied and will comply in all 
material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and the 1933 
Act Regulations . . . . 

Accurate Disclosure.  Neither the Registration Statement nor 
any amendment thereto, at its effective time, on the date hereof or at 
the Closing Time, contained, contains or will contain an untrue 
statement of a material fact or omitted, omits or will omit to state a 
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading.  Neither the Prospectus nor any amendment or 
supplement thereto, as of its issue date, at the time of any filing with 
the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b), at the Closing Time, 
included, includes or will include an untrue statement of a material fact 
or omitted, omits or will omit to state a material fact necessary in order 
to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading. 

* * * 

No Material Adverse Change in Business.  Except as otherwise 
stated therein, since the date of the most recent financial statements in 
the Registration Statement, the General Disclosure Package or the 
Prospectus, (A) there has been no material adverse change, or any 
development that could reasonably be expected to involve a 
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prospective material adverse change, in the condition, financial or 
otherwise, or in the earnings, management, business affairs or 
business prospects of the Company . . . . 

40. Between May 29, 2018 and June 18, 2018, insiders and certain of the 

Controlling Defendants unloaded more than 10.3 million shares of Floor & Decor 

stock at prices as high as $55.03 per share in connection with the May 24 Secondary 

Offering and thereafter: 

Filer Name Transaction 
Date 

Price Shares 
Sold 

Proceeds 

Ares  5/29/18 $44.77 6,734,007 $301,481,493 
   6,734,007 $301,481,493 
FS Equity 
Partners VI, L.P. 

5/29/18 $44.77 3,265,993 $146,218,507 

   3,265,993 $146,218,507 
Lisa Laube  6/18/18 $54.33 41,181 $2,237,364 
 6/18/18 $55.01 18,819 $1,035,233 
   60,000 $3,272,597 
Brian K. Robbins 6/26/18 $50.00 17,044 $852,200 
   17,044 $852,200 
Taylor 6/18/18 $55.03 36,525 $2,009,971 
   36,525 $2,009,971 
Vincent West 6/18/18 $54.46 91,952 $5,007,706 
 6/18/18 $54.99 75,986 $4,178,470 
 6/19/18 $53.70 66,738 $3,583,831 
 6/19/18 $54.49 5,327 $290,105 
   240,000 $13,060,111 
     
Grand Total:   10,353,569 $466,894,879 

 
41. Each of the statements in the Registration Statement and May 29, 2018 

Form 8-K filed with the SEC regarding the current financial condition of the 
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Company, including the purported risk warnings associated with purchase of the 

Company’s stock, was materially false and misleading because the defendants knew, 

but failed to disclose, that, prior to the May 24 Secondary Offering, the Company 

had already begun to experience declining sales trends that would ultimately result 

in the reduction of its fiscal 2018 sales and EPS guidance, which had been increased 

as recently as May 2018.  The Registration Statement failed to disclose this material 

information, disclosure of which was required by Item 303.  Item 303 requires 

disclosure of any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant 

reasonably expects will have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales 

or revenues or income from continuing operations. 

THE TRUE FACTS BEGIN TO BE REVEALED  

42. Then, on August 2, 2018, before the market opened, Floor & Decor 

issued a press release announcing its financial results for the second quarter of 2018.  

The Company’s second quarter results were in sharp contrast to the assurances made 

on May 3, 2018 about the strength of the Company’s business and its continuing 

growth trajectory for the remainder of 2018: 

Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. Announces Second Quarter Fiscal 
2018 Financial Results 

• Net sales increased 26.2% from second quarter 2017 to $434.3 
million 
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• Comparable store sales increased 11.4% from second quarter 
2017 

• Diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) increased 90.0% to $0.38 
from $0.20 in the second quarter 2017; Adjusted diluted EPS 
increased 35.0% to $0.27 from $0.20 in the second quarter 2017 

• Provides third quarter and updates full year fiscal 2018 sales 
and earnings outlook 

. . . Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. (“We,” “Our” the “Company,” 
or “Floor & Decor”) announces its financial results for the second 
quarter of fiscal 2018, which ended June 28, 2018. 

For the Thirteen Weeks Ended June 28, 2018 

• Net sales increased 26.2% to $434.3 million from $344.0 million 
in the second quarter of fiscal 2017. Comparable store sales 
increased 11.4%, including an estimated 280 basis point benefit 
from post-hurricane demand in Houston. 

• Operating income increased 9.2% to $37.2 million from $34.1 
million in the second quarter of fiscal 2017. 

• Net income increased 95.0% to $39.8 million compared to $20.4 
million in the second quarter of fiscal 2017. Diluted EPS was 
$0.38 compared to $0.20 in the second quarter of fiscal 2017. 

43. The Company reduced its fiscal year 2018 comparable store sales and 

EPS outlook as follows: 

 Prior Outlook Updated Outlook 
 Twelve Months 

Ended 12/27/2018 
Twelve Months 
Ended 12/27/2018 

Net sales $1,705 - $1,735 $1,696 - $1,710 
Comparable 
store sales 

9.5% to 11.5% 9.0% to 10.0% 
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Adjusted 
diluted EPS 

$0.93 - $1.01 $0.93 - $0.96 

 
44. Following the issuance of the August 2, 2018 press release, the 

Company held a conference call for analysts and investors to discuss the Company’s 

disappointing financial results.  In addition to reiterating the Company’s second 

quarter financial results and its sharply reduced financial guidance, defendants 

explained the declining sales trends, which had begun in May 2018 after the 

announcement of the Company first quarter 2018 results and had continued 

thereafter.  During the call, defendants explained:  

[Lang:]  Before turning the call over to Trevor, I want to 
acknowledge the revision we provided to our full year outlook.  We 
complete a thorough forecast each quarter, and we felt it prudent to 
slightly adjust our guidance based on current trends and uncertainty due 
to lapping unprecedented hurricane impact on our stores last year.   

* * * 

[Taylor:]  Now turning to our guidance.  As you saw from our 
press release, given our performance for the first half of the year and 
our expectation for the remainder of 2018, we are revising our 2018 
annual guidance range as a result of the following 3 factors.  First, we 
expect our comparable store sales, excluding Houston, to be 9% to 
10.5% range for the second half of 2018, reflecting recent trends in 
our business.  Second, we have had some stores opening later than 
we’d original plan in the fourth quarter.  And third and final, due to 
the reduction of sales expectations, combined with lower assumed 
product margins, primarily due to anticipated mix changes and 
domestic freight costs, we now expect gross margins to be down 50 to 
60 basis points for the second half of the year. 
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45. During the call, in response to analyst inquiries into when the Company 

had begun to see the decelerating sales trends, defendants acknowledged they had 

started to see a decline in May 2018: 

[Analyst:]  So the cadence of the year has decelerated.  So you should 
hit a peak in terms of the underlying ex weather trend in the fourth 
quarter.  And you back that out, it decelerated. . . .  So can you talk 
about how the cadence has been over the first half of the year?  I know 
you don’t like to talk about when you see the decelerating trend, it’s 
something that investors care about.   

* * * 

[Lang:]  So this is Trevor, again. So when we gave guidance, our 
April comps were in line with what we gave guidance at that time. We 
obviously knew what our results were at that point. So you’re right, the 
back part, after the earnings release, is when our business slowed a 
bit. And it’s been pretty consistent subsequent to that.  

46. Also during the call, in response to questions about profit margins 

flattening or declining, defendants, without providing many details, allowed that 

some of their products, including laminate flooring, were lower margin than others, 

such as installation materials (which are complimentary to wood or tile, but not 

laminate, flooring), and suggested that their “mix” of products had shifted from the 

latter to the former, hurting margins: 

[Lang:]  As you look at the strongest businesses we have this year with 
our laminate business and our LVP business, those – some of those 
categories are lower margin. And because some of those categories also 
have things like underlayment included in them, it affects some of our 
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installation accessories where we were not selling as much 
underlayment and stuff.  

47. On August 3, 2018, following the announcement of the Company’s 

second quarter 2018 results, J.P. Morgan issued a report discussing the Company’s 

results and stating specifically that the declining business trends had begun in May 

2018.  The report also noted the Company’s surprising “[s]tory [s]hift” during the 

conference call: 

Downgrading to Neutral on Story Shift; Stock Likely in Purgatory 
Until 2019  

Following a disappointing 2Q and lowered guidance, we are 
downgrading FND to Neutral. In our view, the stock story has shifted 
and, despite the 15% decline in the stock Wednesday, it remains at a 
premium valuation (35x our 2019 EPS estimate) that could further 
contract. 

* * * 

Key points/conclusions from our conversation with 
management. (1) Comp trends were running a “bit better” than the 
2Q guide of 11-13% when guidance was issued on the 1Q call on 5/2. 
Trends decelerated into May and then stayed relatively flat through 
July . . . . 

48. On August 3, 2018, the Telsey Advisory Group issued a report on the 

Company and its second quarter results, indicating that the disappointing results and 

the guidance cut were unexpected, though also concluding that the disclosures did 

“not completely change the story”:  

FND – Sales Slowed but Story Not Broken; Maintain Outperform 

Case 1:19-cv-02270-SCJ   Document 1   Filed 05/20/19   Page 26 of 39



 

- 26 - 

TAG VIEW: Floor & Decor missed comp expectations for the 
first time and lowered its full year sales and EPS outlook to the lower 
end of the prior range. While the slowdown and guidance cut were 
unexpected, they were modest and in our view do not completely 
change the story.  Floor & Decor cited slower growth in the flooring 
category, some headwinds from housing (higher interest rates and 
lower turnover), and difficult YoY comparisons as reasons for the sales 
guidance revision.   

Incremental Details from the Call: All categories, including 
laminate luxury vinyl plank, decorative accessories, and insulation 
materials generated a positive comp in 2Q18, with the exception of 
natural stone.  However, the company saw trends decelerate and cited 
three reasons for its lowered EPS guidance: 1) a core comp guide of 
9.0%-10.5% in 2H18 ex. Houston, implying an acceleration from 
8.6% in 2Q18 as more new stores enter the comp; 2) a decline in the 
gross margin of 50-60 bps in 2H18 due to product mix shift (less 
installation materials and accessories) and higher freight costs; and 
3) several stores opening later than planned in 4Q18. 

49. As a result of these disclosures, including the reduction in the 

Company’s guidance, which had been increased as recently as May 2018, Floor & 

Decor’s stock price declined more than 21%, from a close of $47.71 per share on 

August 1, 2018 to a close of $37.50 per share on August 3, 2018, on massive volume 

of more than 7 million and 4 million shares traded on August 2, 2018 and August 3, 

2018, respectively. 

50. The market for Floor & Decor common stock was open, well-developed 

and efficient at all relevant times.  As a result of these materially false and misleading 

statements and omissions, as set forth above, Floor & Decor common stock traded 
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at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period.  Plaintiff and other members of 

the Class purchased Floor & Decor common stock relying upon the integrity of the 

market price of Floor & Decor common stock and market information relating to 

Floor & Decor, and have been damaged thereby. 

51. During the Class Period, defendants materially misled the investing 

public, thereby inflating the price of Floor & Decor common stock, by publicly 

issuing false and misleading statements and omitting to disclose material facts 

necessary to make defendants’ statements, as set forth herein, not false and 

misleading.  Said statements and omissions were materially false and misleading in 

that they failed to disclose material adverse information and misrepresented the truth 

about the Company, its business and operations, as alleged herein. 

52. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions 

particularized herein directly or proximately caused or were a substantial 

contributing cause of the damages sustained by plaintiff and other members of the 

Class.  As described herein, during the Class Period, defendants made or caused to 

be made a series of materially false or misleading statements about Floor & Decor’s 

business and prospects.  These material misstatements and omissions had the cause 

and effect of creating, in the market, an unrealistically positive assessment of Floor 

& Decor and its business and prospects, thus causing the Company’s common stock 
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to be overvalued and its price to be artificially inflated at all relevant times.  

Defendants’ materially false and misleading statements during the Class Period 

resulted in plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s 

common stock at artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained 

of herein.  When the true facts about the Company were revealed to the market, the 

inflation in the price of Floor & Decor common stock was removed and the price of 

Floor & Decor common stock declined dramatically, causing losses to plaintiff and 

the other members of the Class. 

ADDITIONAL SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS 

53. As alleged herein, Floor & Decor and the Individual Defendants acted 

with scienter in that they knew that the public documents and statements issued or 

disseminated in the name of the Company were materially false and misleading; 

knew that such statements or documents would be issued or disseminated to the 

investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or acquiesced in the 

issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of 

the federal securities laws.  As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, these defendants, 

by virtue of their receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding Floor & 

Decor, their control over, and/or receipt and/or modification of Floor & Decor’s 

allegedly materially misleading statements and/or their associations with the 
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Company which made them privy to confidential proprietary information 

concerning Floor & Decor, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein. 

LOSS CAUSATION/ECONOMIC LOSS 

54. During the Class Period, as detailed herein, defendants made false and 

misleading statements about Floor & Decor’s business and prospects and engaged 

in a scheme to deceive the market.  This artificially inflated Floor & Decor’s stock 

price and operated as a fraud or deceit on the Class.  Later, when defendants’ prior 

misrepresentations and fraudulent conduct became apparent to the market, Floor & 

Decor’s stock price fell precipitously, as the prior artificial inflation came out of the 

stock price.  As a result of their purchases of Floor & Decor common stock during 

the Class period, plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered economic loss, 

i.e., damages, under the federal securities laws. 

NO SAFE HARBOR 

55. Floor & Decor’s “Safe Harbor” warnings accompanying its reportedly 

forward-looking statements (“FLS”) issued during the Class Period were ineffective 

to shield those statements from liability.  To the extent that projected revenues and 

earnings were included in the Company’s financial reports prepared in accordance 

with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, including those filed with the SEC 
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on Form 8-K, they are excluded from the protection of the statutory Safe Harbor.  15 

U.S.C. §78u-5(b)(2)(A). 

56. The defendants are also liable for any false or misleading FLS pleaded 

because, at the time each FLS was made, the speaker knew the FLS was false or 

misleading and the FLS was authorized and/or approved by an executive officer of 

Floor & Decor who knew that the FLS was false.  None of the historic or present 

tense statements made by defendants were assumptions underlying or relating to any 

plan, projection or statement of future economic performance, as they were not 

stated to be such assumptions underlying or relating to any projection or statement 

of future economic performance when made, nor were any of the projections or 

forecasts made by defendants expressly related to or stated to be dependent on those 

historic or present tense statements when made. 

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE: 
FRAUD ON THE MARKET 

57. Plaintiff will rely upon the presumption of reliance established by the 

fraud-on-the-market doctrine in that, among other things: 

(a) Defendants made public misrepresentations or failed to disclose 

material facts during the Class Period; 

(b) The omissions and misrepresentations were material; 

(c) The Company’s common stock traded in an efficient market; 
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(d) The misrepresentations alleged would tend to induce a 

reasonable investor to misjudge the value of the Company’s common stock; and 

(e) Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased Floor & 

Decor common stock between the time defendants misrepresented or failed to 

disclose material facts and the time the true facts were disclosed, without knowledge 

of the misrepresented or omitted facts. 

58. At all relevant times, the market for Floor & Decor common stock was 

efficient for the following reasons, among others: 

(a) As a regulated issuer, Floor & Decor filed periodic public reports 

with the SEC; and 

(b) Floor & Decor regularly communicated with public investors via 

established market communication mechanisms, including through the regular 

dissemination of press releases on major news wire services and through other wide-

ranging public disclosures, such as communications with the financial press, 

securities analysts and other similar reporting services. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

59. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of all persons or entities who purchased 

Floor & Decor common stock during the Class Period (the “Class”).  Excluded from 
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the Class are defendants and their families, directors and officers of Floor & Decor, 

at all relevant times, and their immediate families, and defendants’ legal 

representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns and any entity in which defendants have 

or had a controlling interest. 

60. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members 

is impracticable.  The disposition of their claims in a class action will provide 

substantial benefits to the parties and the Court.  Floor & Decor has more than 98 

million shares of stock outstanding, owned by hundreds of persons. 

61. There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law 

and fact involved in this case.  Questions of law and fact common to the members 

of the Class that predominate over questions that may affect individual Class 

members include: 

(a) whether the Exchange Act was violated by defendants; 

(b) whether defendants omitted and/or misrepresented material 

facts; 

(c) whether defendants’ statements omitted material facts necessary 

in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading; 
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(d) whether defendants knew or recklessly disregarded that their 

statements were false and misleading; 

(e) whether the price of Floor & Decor common stock was 

artificially inflated; and 

(f) the extent of damage sustained by Class members and the 

appropriate measure of damages. 

62. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class because plaintiff and 

the Class sustained damages from defendants’ wrongful conduct. 

63. Plaintiff will adequately protect the interests of the Class and has 

retained counsel who are experienced in class action securities litigation.  Plaintiff 

has no interests which conflict with those of the Class. 

64. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of this controversy. 

 

For Violation of §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 
Against the Company and the Individual Defendants 

65. Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶1-64 by reference. 

66. During the Class Period, the Company and the Individual Defendants 

disseminated or approved the false statements specified above, which they knew or 

recklessly disregarded were misleading in that they contained misrepresentations 
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and failed to disclose material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, 

in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

67. The Company and the Individual Defendants violated §10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 in that they: 

(a) Employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; 

(b) Made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or 

(c) Engaged in acts, practices and a course of business that operated 

as a fraud or deceit upon plaintiff and others similarly situated in connection with 

their purchases of Floor & Decor common stock during the Class Period. 

68. Plaintiff and the Class have suffered damages in that, in reliance on the 

integrity of the market, they paid artificially inflated prices for Floor & Decor 

common stock.  Plaintiff and the Class would not have purchased Floor & Decor 

common stock at the prices they paid, or at all, if they had been aware that the market 

prices had been artificially and falsely inflated by defendants’ misleading 

statements. 
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69. As a direct and proximate result of these defendants’ wrongful conduct, 

plaintiff and the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with 

their purchases of Floor & Decor common stock during the Class Period. 

 

For Violation of §20(a) of the Exchange Act 
Against the Company, the Individual Defendants, 

 and the Controlling Defendants 

70. Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶1-69 by reference. 

71. The Individual Defendants and the Controlling Defendants acted as 

controlling persons of Floor & Decor within the meaning of §20 of the Exchange 

Act.  By virtue of their positions and their power to control public statements about 

Floor & Decor, the Individual Defendants and Controlling Defendants had the power 

and ability to control the actions of Floor & Decor and its employees.  Floor & Decor 

controlled the Individual Defendants and the Controlling Defendants and its other 

officers and employees.  By reason of such conduct, these defendants are liable 

pursuant to §20(a) of the 1934 Act. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for judgment as follows: 

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating 

plaintiff as Lead Plaintiff and certifying plaintiff as Class representative under Rule 

23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and plaintiff’s counsel as Lead Counsel; 

B. Awarding plaintiff and the members of the Class damages and interest; 

C. Awarding plaintiff’s reasonable costs, including attorneys’ fees; and 

D. Awarding such equitable/injunctive or other relief as the Court may 

deem just and proper. 
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 

DATED:  May 20, 2019 ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN  
 & DOWD LLP 
JOHN C. HERMAN 
 (Georgia Bar No. 348370) 

 

John C. Herman 
 JOHN C. HERMAN 
 

Monarch Tower, Suite 1650 
3424 Peachtree Road, N.E. 
Atlanta, GA  30326 
Telephone:  404/504-6500 
404/504-6501 (fax) 
jherman@rgrdlaw.com 

 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 
 & DOWD LLP 
SHAWN A. WILLIAMS 
 (Of Counsel) 
Post Montgomery Center 
One Montgomery Street, Suite 1800 
San Francisco, CA  94104 
Telephone:  415/288-4545 
415/288-4534 (fax) 
shawnw@rgrdlaw.com 
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JOHNSON FISTEL, LLP 
MICHAEL I. FISTEL, JR. 
 (Georgia Bar No. 262062) 
40 Powder Springs Street 
Marietta, GA  30064 
Telephone:  470/632-6000 
770/200-3101 (fax) 
michaelf@johnsonfistel.com 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATION OF PLAINTIFF PURSUANT 
TO THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS 

I, Grant Taylor, declare the following as to the claims asserted, or to be asserted, under 
the federal securities laws: 

1. I have reviewed the complaint and authorize its filing. 

2. I did not acquire the securities that are the subject of this action at the direction of 

plaintiff's counsel or in order to participate in any private action or any other litigation under the 

federal securities laws. 

3. I am willing to serve as a representative party on behalf of the class, including 

testifying at deposition or trial, if necessary. 

4. I made the following transactions during the Class Period in the securities that are 

the subject of this action. 

Acquisitions: Number of Shares Acquisition Price Per 

Date Acquired Acquired Share 

7 /16/18 115 47.35 

7/24/18 100 48.72 

Sales: Number of Shares Selling Price Per 

Date Sold Sold Share 

7/17/18 115 49.00 

5. I will not accept any payment for serving as a representative party beyond my 

pro-rata share of any recovery, except reasonable costs and expenses - such as lost wages and 

travel expenses - directly related to the class representation, as ordered or approved by the Court 

pursuant to law. 

6. I have not sought to serve or served as a representative party for a class in an 

action under the federal securities laws within the past three years, except if detailed below: 
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I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the 

foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed this 16th day of May 2019. 
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5. Extended discovery period is needed. 10. Existence of highly technical issues and proof.
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VI. NATURE OF SUIT (PL\CEAN"X"INONI:BOXONLY) 

CONTRACT - "O" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK 
LI 150RECOVERYOF OVERPAYMENT & 

ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENT 
LI 152 RECOVERY OF DEFAULTED STUDENT 

LOANS (Exel Veterans) 
LI 153 RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENT OF 

VETERAN'S BENEHTS 

CONTRACT - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK 
110 INSURANCE 
120MARJNE 
130 MILLER ACT 
140 NEGOTIABIE INS'IRUMENT 
151 MEDICARE ACT 
160 STOCKHOLDERS' SUITS 
190 OTHER CONTRACT 
195 CONTRACT PRODUCT LlABILITY 
196FRANCHISE 

REAL PROPERTY - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY 

� 210IANDCONDEMNATION 

�

220FORECLOSURE 
230 RENT IEASE & EJECTMENT 
240 TORTS TO lAND 
245 TORT PRODUCT LlABILITY 
290 All OTHER REAL PROPERTY 

TORTS - PERSONAL INJURY - "4" MONTHS 
OtsCoV£R'l IRACk 

310AIRPIANE 
315 AIRPIANE PRODUCT LlABIIITY 
320 ASSAULT, LIBEL & SLANDER 
330 FEDERAL EMPLOYERS' LlABIIITY 
340MARJNE 
345 MARlNE PRODUCT llABIIITY 
350 MOTOR VEHICIE 
355 MOTOR VEHICIE PRODUCT llABIIITY 
360 OTHER PERSONAL INJURY 
362 PERSONAL INJURY - MEDICAL 

MALPRACTICE 8 365 PERSONAL INJURY - PRODUCT llABIIITY 
367 PERSONAL INJURY - HEALTH CAJID 

PHARMACEUTICAL PRODUCT llABIIITY 
LI 368 ASBESTOS PERSONAL INJURY PRODUCT 

LlABIIITY 

TORTS - PERSONAL PROPERTY - "4" MONTHS 
OtsCoV£R'l t'RAcK 

370 OTHER FRAUD 
371 TRUTH IN !ENDING 
380 OTHER PERSONAL PROPERTY DAMAGE 
385 PROPERTY DAMAGE PRODUCT LlABIIITY 

BANKRUPTCY - "O" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK 8 422 APPEAL 28 USC 158 
423 WITHDRAWAL 28 USC 157 

CML RIGHTS - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK 
440 OTHER CIVIL RIGHTS 
441 VOTING 
442 EMPLOYMENT 
443 HOUSING/ ACCOMMODATIONS 
445 AMERICANS with DISABILITIES - Employment 
446 AMERICANS with DISABILITIES - Other 

CJ 448 EDUCATION 

IMMIGRATION - "O" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK 8 462 NATURALIZATION APPllCATION 
465 OTHER IMMIGRATION ACTIONS 

PRISONER PETITIONS - "O" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK 1 463 HABEAS CORPUS- Alien Detainee 

510 MOTIONS TO VACATE SENTENCE 
530 HABEAS CORPUS 
535 HABEAS CORPUS DEATH PENALTY 
540 MANDAMUS & OTHER 
550 CIVIL RIGHTS - Filed Prose 
555 PRISON CONDITTON(S)- Filed Prose 
560 CIVIL DETAINEE: COND ITTONS OF 

CONFINEMENT 

PRISONER PETITIONS - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK 
--.:J 550 CIVIL RIGHTS - Filed by Counsel 

LI 555 PRISON CONDITTON(S)- Filed by Counsel 

FORFEITURE/PENALTY - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
t'RAcK 
� 625 DRUG RELATED SEIZURE OF PROPERTY 

21 USC 881 
CJ 6900THER 

LABOR - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY TRACK 
710 FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT 
720LABOR/MGMT RELATIONS 
740 RAILWAY LABOR ACT 
751 FAMILY andMEDICAL IEAVEACT 
790 OTHER LABOR llTIGATION 
791 EMPL RET INC SECURITY ACT 

PROPERTY RIGHTS - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK 
� 820 COPYRIGHTS 

LI 840 TRADEMARK 

PROPERTY RIGHTS - "8" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK 
� 830PATENT 

CJ 835 PATENT-ABBREVIATED NEW DRUG 
APPllCATIONS (ANDA)- alkla 
Hatch-Waxman cases 

VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:
IZJ CHECK IF CLASS ACTION UNDER F.RCiv.P. 23 DEMANDS 

SOCIAL SECURITY - "O" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK 1 861 HIA ( 1395ft) 

862 BLACK LUNG ( 923) 
863 DIWC (405(g)) 
863 DIWW ( 405(g)) 
864 SSID TITLE XVI 
865 RSI (405(g)) 

FEDERAL TAX SUITS - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK 
--,:r 870 TAXES (U S Plaintiff or Defendant) 

CJ 871 IRS - THIRD PARTY 26 USC 7609 

OTHER STATUTES - "4" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK l 375FALSECLAIMSACT 

376 Qui Tam 31 USC 3729(a) 
400 STATE REAPPORTIONMENT 
430 BANKS AND BANKING 
450 COMMERCE/ICC RATES/ETC 
460 DEPORTATION 
470 RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT 

ORGANIZATIONS 

� 

480 CONSUMER CREDIT 
490 CABIE/SATEWTE TV 
8900THERSTATUTORY ACTIONS 
891 AGRICULTURAL ACTS 
893 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
895 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 
899 ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES ACT I 

REVIEW OR APPEAL OF AGENCY DECISION 
CJ 950 CONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATE STATUTES 

OTHER STATUTES - "8" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK 
� 410 ANTITRUST 

[ZI 850 SECURITIES/COMMODITIES/EXCHANGE 

OTHER STATUTES - "O" MONTHS DISCOVERY 
TRACK 
--.::r 896 ARBITRATION 

(Confum I Vacate/ Order I Modify) 

* PLEASE NOTE DISCOVERY
TRACK FOR EACH CASE TYPE.
SEE LOCAL RULE 26.3

------------

JURY DE MAND IZJYES D NO (CHECKYES�IFDEMANDED IN COMPLAINT) 

VIII. RELATED/REFILED CASE(S) IF ANY
JUDGE ____________ _ DOCKET NO. ________ _ 

CIVIL CASES ARE DEEMED RELATED IF THE PENDING CASE INVOLVES: (CHECKAPPROPRLUEBO:\') 
LI 1. PROPERTY INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT. 
CJ 2. SAME ISSUE OF FACT OR ARISES OUT OF THE SAl\lE EVENT OR TRANSACTION INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT. 
LI 3. VALIDITY OR INFRINGEl'dENT OF THE SAME PATENT, COPYRIGHT OR TRADDIARK INCLUDED IN AN EARLIER NUMBERED PENDING SUIT. 
LI 4. APPEALS ARISING OUT OF THE SAME BANKRUPTCY CASE AND ANY CASE RELATED THERETO WHICH HA VE BEEN DECIDED BY THE SAME 

BANKRUPTCY JUDGE. 
LI 5. REPETITIVE CASES FILED BY �LITIGANTS. 
LI 6. COl'dPANION OR RELATED CASE TO CASE(S) BEING SThfULTANEOUSLY FILED (INCLUDE ABBREVIATED STYLE OF OTHER CASE(S)): 

CJ 7. EITHER SAl\lE OR ALL OF THE PARTIES AND ISSUES IN THIS CASE WIRE PREVIOUSLY INVOLVED IN CASE NO. 
DISl\fiSSED. This c.ase CJ IS CJ IS NOT (check one box) SUBSTANTIALLY THE SAl\lE CASE. 

,WllICHWAS 

May 20, 2019 
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Floor & Decor Facing Proposed Securities Suit After ‘Disappointing’ Q2 2018 Financial Results

https://www.classaction.org/news/floor-and-decor-facing-proposed-securities-suit-after-disappointing-q2-2018-financial-results

	SUMMARY OF THE ACTION
	1. This is a securities class action on behalf of all persons or entities who purchased the common stock of Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. (“Floor & Decor” or the “Company”) between May 23, 2018 and August 1, 2018, inclusive (the “Class Period”).  The d...
	INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	2. Floor & Decor describes itself as a high-growth differentiated multi-channel specialty retailer of hard surface flooring and related accessories, with warehouse-format stores across 21 states.  The Company purports to offer the industry’s broadest ...
	3. The Company conducted its initial public offering (“IPO”) on May 2, 2017, raising gross proceeds of $213 million.  Floor & Decor stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under Ticker symbol “FND.”  The Company, since its IPO, has reported strong...
	4. On November 15, 2017, the Company conducted a secondary offering of 6.5 million shares of its common stock at $36.00 per share to be sold by certain stockholders of the Company.  The November 15, 2017 secondary offering closed on or around November...
	5. On May 3, 2018, the Company issued a press release announcing its financial results for the first quarter of fiscal 2018, ended March 29, 2018.  The financial results beat the Company’s reported revenue and earnings expectations and the Company als...
	6. The Company increased the comparable store sales and earnings per share (“EPS”) guidance as follows:
	7. On the same day, May 3, 2018, the Company held a conference call for analysts and investors to discuss its first quarter 2018 financial results.  The call was hosted by defendants Lang and Taylor.  During the call, defendants discussed current sale...
	8. On May 3, 2018, following the announcement of the Company’s first quarter 2018 financial results, UBS issued a report on Floor & Decor entitled “Quick Thoughts on 1Q’18 Results”:
	9. Despite the Company’s strong first quarter 2018 financial results and the increase in the Company’s fiscal 2018 outlook, some market analysts expressed disappointment that the sales outlook had not been increased even more.
	10. On May 3, 2018, Floor & Decor’s stock price declined from a close of $54.05 per share on May 2, 2018 to $46.56 per share on May 4, 2018.
	11. On May 9, 2018, J.P. Morgan issued a report on Floor & Decor discussing its meeting with Company executives, including defendants Taylor and Lang.  The report reiterated the strength of Floor & Decor’s business, shot down any rumors that the Compa...
	12. On May 23, 2018, the Company filed a Registration Statement and Rule 424(b) Prospectus with the SEC for a secondary offering of 10 million shares of Floor & Decor common stock at $44.77 per share, which became effective on or around May 23, 2018. ...
	13. On May 29, 2018, the Company filed a Form 8-K with the SEC announcing the closure of the May 24 Secondary Offering.  The Form 8-K attached the underwriting agreement between the Company and J.P. Morgan and assured investors that as of the effectiv...
	14. The May 24 Secondary Offering raised more than $400 million for the “Selling Stockholders.”  Including the sales in the May 24 Secondary Offering, and as the Company’s stock price increased to above $55.00 per share thereafter, Company insiders un...
	15. Each of the statements in the Registration Statement filed with the SEC regarding the current financial condition of the Company, including the purported risk warnings associated with the purchase of the Company’s stock, was materially false and m...
	16. Then, on August 2, 2018, before the market opened, Floor & Decor issued a press release announcing its financial results for the second quarter of 2018.  The second quarter results were in sharp contrast to the assurances made on May 3, 2018 about...
	17. The Company reduced its fiscal 2018 comparable store sales and EPS outlook as follows:
	18. Following the issuance of the August 2, 2018 press release, the Company held a conference call for analysts and investors to discuss its disappointing financial results.  In addition to reiterating the Company’s second quarter 2018 financial resul...
	19. As a result of these disclosures and the significant reduction in the Company’s fiscal year 2018 sales and EPS outlook, Floor & Decor’s stock price declined more than 21%, from a close of $47.71 per share on August 1, 2018 to a close of $37.50 per...
	JURISDICTION AND VENUE
	20. Jurisdiction is conferred by §27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §77aa) and 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1337.  The claims asserted herein arise under §§10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and 78t(a)), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereun...
	21. Venue is properly laid in this District pursuant to §27 of the Exchange Act and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and (c).  The acts and conduct complained of herein occurred in substantial part in this District.  The Company’s shares are traded on the New York ...
	22. In connection with the acts and conduct alleged in this complaint, defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the mail, telephonic communications and the facilities of the NYSE.
	PARTIES
	23. Plaintiff Grant Taylor purchased Floor & Decor common stock as described in the certification attached hereto as Exhibit A and was damaged thereby.
	24. Defendant Floor & Decor Holdings, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business located in Smyrna, Georgia.
	25. Defendant Thomas V. Taylor, Jr. (“Taylor”) is and was at all relevant times the Company’s CEO and has been a member of the Company’s Board of Directors since December 2012.  Taylor signed the May 23, 2018 Registration Statement.
	26. Defendant Trevor S. Lang (“Lang”) is and was at all relevant times Executive Vice President, CFO and Chief Accounting Officer of the Company.  Lang signed the May 23, 2018 Registration Statement.
	27. Defendant Ares Opportunities Fund III, L.P. (“Ares”) and its affiliated entities were selling stockholders in the May 24 Secondary Offering and are controlling shareholders of the Company.  Ares nominated Norman H. Axelrod, David B. Kaplan, Peter ...
	28. Defendant FS Capital Partners VI, LLC, as the general partner of defendants FS Equity Partners VI, L.P. and FS Affiliates VI, L.P. (the “FS Funds”), including Freeman Spogli Management Co., L.P., were among the selling stockholders in the May 24 S...
	29. Defendant Freeman Spogli Management Co., L.P. (“Freeman Spogli”) is a private equity firm dedicated exclusively to investing and partnering with management in consumer and distribution companies in the United States.  Freeman Spogli nominated John...
	30. Defendants Taylor and Lang are collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.”
	31. Defendants Ares, the FS Funds and Freeman Spogli are collectively referred to herein as the “Controlling Defendants.”
	CONTROL PERSONS
	32. As officers and/or directors and controlling persons of a publicly held company whose common stock is traded on the NYSE and governed by the provisions of the federal securities laws, the defendants had a duty to promptly disseminate accurate and ...
	33. Defendants participated in the drafting, preparation, and/or approval of the various public, shareholder and investor reports and other communications complained of herein and were aware of, or recklessly disregarded, the misstatements contained t...
	34. The Individual Defendants and Controlling Defendants, because of their positions of control and authority as officers and/or directors of the Company or their share ownership and rights emerging from an Investor Rights Agreement, were able to and ...
	35. The Company and the Individual Defendants, by disseminating materially false and misleading statements and/or concealing material adverse facts, are liable as participants in a fraudulent scheme and course of business that operated as a fraud or d...
	SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

	36. On May 23, 2018, Floor & Decor announced that it would conduct a secondary offering of 10 million shares of its Class A common stock to be sold by the “Selling Stockholders,” including defendants Ares, the FS Funds and Freeman Spogli:
	37. On May 23, 2018, the Company filed the Registration Statement and Prospectus for the May 24 Secondary Offering with the SEC.  The Registration Statement discussed the Company’s business and described the common stock offering, the selling stockhol...
	38. On May 24, 2018, the Company announced that it had priced the May 24 Secondary Offering of common stock at $44.77 per share and referred investors to the Company’s Prospectus, which was filed with the SEC and had become effective on May 23, 2018. ...
	39. On May 29, 2018, the Company filed a Form 8-K with the SEC announcing the closure of the May 24 Secondary Offering.  The Form 8-K attached the underwriting agreement between the Company and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“J.P. Morgan”).  The Form 8-K...
	40. Between May 29, 2018 and June 18, 2018, insiders and certain of the Controlling Defendants unloaded more than 10.3 million shares of Floor & Decor stock at prices as high as $55.03 per share in connection with the May 24 Secondary Offering and the...
	41. Each of the statements in the Registration Statement and May 29, 2018 Form 8-K filed with the SEC regarding the current financial condition of the Company, including the purported risk warnings associated with purchase of the Company’s stock, was ...
	THE TRUE FACTS BEGIN TO BE REVEALED
	42. Then, on August 2, 2018, before the market opened, Floor & Decor issued a press release announcing its financial results for the second quarter of 2018.  The Company’s second quarter results were in sharp contrast to the assurances made on May 3, ...
	43. The Company reduced its fiscal year 2018 comparable store sales and EPS outlook as follows:
	44. Following the issuance of the August 2, 2018 press release, the Company held a conference call for analysts and investors to discuss the Company’s disappointing financial results.  In addition to reiterating the Company’s second quarter financial ...
	45. During the call, in response to analyst inquiries into when the Company had begun to see the decelerating sales trends, defendants acknowledged they had started to see a decline in May 2018:
	46. Also during the call, in response to questions about profit margins flattening or declining, defendants, without providing many details, allowed that some of their products, including laminate flooring, were lower margin than others, such as insta...
	47. On August 3, 2018, following the announcement of the Company’s second quarter 2018 results, J.P. Morgan issued a report discussing the Company’s results and stating specifically that the declining business trends had begun in May 2018.  The report...
	48. On August 3, 2018, the Telsey Advisory Group issued a report on the Company and its second quarter results, indicating that the disappointing results and the guidance cut were unexpected, though also concluding that the disclosures did “not comple...
	49. As a result of these disclosures, including the reduction in the Company’s guidance, which had been increased as recently as May 2018, Floor & Decor’s stock price declined more than 21%, from a close of $47.71 per share on August 1, 2018 to a clos...
	50. The market for Floor & Decor common stock was open, well-developed and efficient at all relevant times.  As a result of these materially false and misleading statements and omissions, as set forth above, Floor & Decor common stock traded at artifi...
	51. During the Class Period, defendants materially misled the investing public, thereby inflating the price of Floor & Decor common stock, by publicly issuing false and misleading statements and omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make de...
	52. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized herein directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the damages sustained by plaintiff and other members of the Class.  As described ...
	Additional Scienter Allegations
	53. As alleged herein, Floor & Decor and the Individual Defendants acted with scienter in that they knew that the public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were materially false and misleading; knew that such st...
	LOSS CAUSATION/ECONOMIC LOSS
	54. During the Class Period, as detailed herein, defendants made false and misleading statements about Floor & Decor’s business and prospects and engaged in a scheme to deceive the market.  This artificially inflated Floor & Decor’s stock price and op...
	NO SAFE HARBOR
	55. Floor & Decor’s “Safe Harbor” warnings accompanying its reportedly forward-looking statements (“FLS”) issued during the Class Period were ineffective to shield those statements from liability.  To the extent that projected revenues and earnings we...
	56. The defendants are also liable for any false or misleading FLS pleaded because, at the time each FLS was made, the speaker knew the FLS was false or misleading and the FLS was authorized and/or approved by an executive officer of Floor & Decor who...
	APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE: FRAUD ON THE MARKET
	57. Plaintiff will rely upon the presumption of reliance established by the fraud-on-the-market doctrine in that, among other things:
	(a) Defendants made public misrepresentations or failed to disclose material facts during the Class Period;
	(b) The omissions and misrepresentations were material;
	(c) The Company’s common stock traded in an efficient market;
	(d) The misrepresentations alleged would tend to induce a reasonable investor to misjudge the value of the Company’s common stock; and
	(e) Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased Floor & Decor common stock between the time defendants misrepresented or failed to disclose material facts and the time the true facts were disclosed, without knowledge of the misrepresented or om...

	58. At all relevant times, the market for Floor & Decor common stock was efficient for the following reasons, among others:
	(a) As a regulated issuer, Floor & Decor filed periodic public reports with the SEC; and
	(b) Floor & Decor regularly communicated with public investors via established market communication mechanisms, including through the regular dissemination of press releases on major news wire services and through other wide-ranging public disclosures...

	CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
	59. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of all persons or entities who purchased Floor & Decor common stock during the Class Period (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Clas...
	60. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.  The disposition of their claims in a class action will provide substantial benefits to the parties and the Court.  Floor & Decor has more than 98 million share...
	61. There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact involved in this case.  Questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class that predominate over questions that may affect individual Class members include:
	(a) whether the Exchange Act was violated by defendants;
	(b) whether defendants omitted and/or misrepresented material facts;
	(c) whether defendants’ statements omitted material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
	(d) whether defendants knew or recklessly disregarded that their statements were false and misleading;
	(e) whether the price of Floor & Decor common stock was artificially inflated; and
	(f) the extent of damage sustained by Class members and the appropriate measure of damages.

	62. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class because plaintiff and the Class sustained damages from defendants’ wrongful conduct.
	63. Plaintiff will adequately protect the interests of the Class and has retained counsel who are experienced in class action securities litigation.  Plaintiff has no interests which conflict with those of the Class.
	64. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy.
	COUNT I
	For Violation of §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 Against the Company and the Individual Defendants


	65. Plaintiff incorporates 1-64 by reference.
	66. During the Class Period, the Company and the Individual Defendants disseminated or approved the false statements specified above, which they knew or recklessly disregarded were misleading in that they contained misrepresentations and failed to dis...
	67. The Company and the Individual Defendants violated §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 in that they:
	(a) Employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud;
	(b) Made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or
	(c) Engaged in acts, practices and a course of business that operated as a fraud or deceit upon plaintiff and others similarly situated in connection with their purchases of Floor & Decor common stock during the Class Period.

	68. Plaintiff and the Class have suffered damages in that, in reliance on the integrity of the market, they paid artificially inflated prices for Floor & Decor common stock.  Plaintiff and the Class would not have purchased Floor & Decor common stock ...
	69. As a direct and proximate result of these defendants’ wrongful conduct, plaintiff and the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of Floor & Decor common stock during the Class Period.
	COUNT II
	For Violation of §20(a) of the Exchange Act Against the Company, the Individual Defendants,  and the Controlling Defendants


	70. Plaintiff incorporates 1-69 by reference.
	71. The Individual Defendants and the Controlling Defendants acted as controlling persons of Floor & Decor within the meaning of §20 of the Exchange Act.  By virtue of their positions and their power to control public statements about Floor & Decor, t...
	PRAYER FOR RELIEF
	A. Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating plaintiff as Lead Plaintiff and certifying plaintiff as Class representative under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and plaintiff’s counsel as Lead Counsel;
	B. Awarding plaintiff and the members of the Class damages and interest;
	C. Awarding plaintiff’s reasonable costs, including attorneys’ fees; and
	D. Awarding such equitable/injunctive or other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

	JURY DEMAND

